THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Frank R. Addy Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No.: 2024-001273

---

**RECEIVED**

APR 29 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Carey Holtzclaw and Holtzclaw Lawn Service, LLC,

Appellants,

v.

Piedmont Technical College, William Craig Mayo,  
Brian McKenna, and State Fiscal Accountability  
Authority

Respondents.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

---

R. Jamison Tinsley Jr.  
109 Oak Ave.  
Greenwood, SC 29646  
(864) 223-0770  
Attorney for Appellants

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING HOLTZCLAW'S COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO THE PROCUREMENT CODE WHERE STATE PROCUREMENT SERVICES AND PIEDMONT TECH DID NOT AVAIL ITSELF OF THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE PROCUREMENT CODE.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING HOLTZCLAW'S CAUSES OF ACTION FOR DEFAMATION AND CIVIL CONSPIRACY PURSUANT TO THE PROCUREMENT CODE.

## STATEMENT OF CASE

Appellants Carey Holtzclaw and Holtzclaw Lawn Service, LLC ("Holtzclaw") filed a summons and complaint against Respondents Piedmont Technical College ("Piedmont Tech"), William Craig Mayo, Brian McKenna, and State Fiscal Accountability Authority ("State Procurement Services") on March 1, 2024. (Summons and Complaint.) Holtzclaw brought causes of action for breach of contract against Piedmont Tech and State Procurement Services, defamation against Piedmont Tech and Mayo, and civil conspiracy against all Respondents. (Complaint, pp. 6-8.)

All Respondents except for McKenna filed motions to dismiss. (Notice of Motion and Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative for Judgment on the Pleadings; and Notice of Motion and Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative for Judgment on the Pleadings by Defendants Piedmont Technical College and William Craig Mayo.)

The circuit court conducted a hearing on the motions to dismiss on June 4, 2024, via WebEx.<sup>1</sup> At the end of the hearing, the circuit court took the matter under advisement. On July 3,

---

<sup>1</sup> While McKenna did not file a motion to dismiss, he joined with the other Respondents' requested relief at the hearing and requested that the circuit court dismiss the complaint against him.

2024, the circuit court issued a Form 4 order granting all Respondents' motions to dismiss and ending the case. (Form 4.)

Holtzclaw timely filed and served a notice of appeal on all Respondents on August 1, 2024. (Notice of Appeal.)

## FACTS

State Procurement Services and Piedmont Tech initially contracted with Holtzclaw in 2015 for Holtzclaw to provide maintenance for the grounds at all eight of Piedmont Tech's campuses. (Complaint, p. 3, ¶ 7.) In 2020, the Piedmont Tech grounds maintenance contract was up for bid again, and Holtzclaw bid for it again. (Complaint p. 3, ¶ 9.) After State Procurement Services awarded the contract to another party, Holtzclaw protested that award on January 22, 2021. (Complaint p. 3, ¶ 10; Letter from R. Jamison Tinsley Jr. to Stephen Taylor dated January 22, 2021.) On February 18, 2021, State Procurement Services granted Holtzclaw's protest and reopened the bidding for the Piedmont Tech contract. (Complaint p. 3, ¶ 11; Protest Decision dated February 18, 2021.) Holtzclaw eventually received the five-year contract for \$598,155.00. (Complaint p. 3, ¶ 12.)

On March 14, 2022, Holtzclaw met with Mayo, who had become the interim facilities director for Piedmont Tech earlier in the year; McKenna, who was the Procurement Manager at Piedmont Tech; and others. (Complaint p. 4, ¶¶ 15-16.) At this meeting, Mayo informed Holtzclaw that Holtzclaw could no longer purchase materials directly because he believed Holtzclaw was charging Piedmont Tech for materials he used on other jobs. (Complaint p. 4, ¶ 18.) Mayo also accused Holtzclaw of charging Piedmont Tech for work that he did not actually perform. (Complaint p. 4, ¶ 19.) Holtzclaw angrily denied the accusations and told Mayo not to question his

character. (Complaint p. 4, ¶ 20.) McKenna responded by saying, “Well, you appealed us, so we are going to be watching you.” (Complaint p. 4, ¶ 22.)

On September 16, 2022, Holtzclaw met with Mayo again, and Mayo once again said Holtzclaw was violating the contract. (Complaint p. 4, ¶ 23.) At the meeting, Mayo gave Holtzclaw a letter that state Holtzclaw must be in compliance by December 2, 2022, or “further actions would be implemented.” (Complaint p. 5, ¶ 24; Letter from William C. Mayo to Kerry Holtzclaw dated September 16, 2022.)

Then, State Procurement Services sent Holtzclaw a “cure letter” dated December 8, 2022, that listed seventeen deficiencies with Holtzclaw’s performance. (Complaint p. 5, ¶ 26; Letter from Nakendra Perry to Holtzclaw Lawn Service, LLC dated December 8, 2022.) Holtzclaw issued a response on December 13, 2022, that admitted two of the deficiencies but denied the other fifteen. (Complaint p. 5, ¶ 28; Letter from Carey Holtzclaw to Nakendra Perry dated December 13, 2022.) State Procurement Services then sent Holtzclaw a “show cause” letter dated December 21, 2022, that stated Holtzclaw had fifteen days to respond with facts that showed he was not at fault for being in default of the contract or State Procurement Services would terminate the contract. (Complaint p. 5, ¶ 29; Letter from Nakendra Perry to Carey Holtzclaw dated December 21, 2022.) Holtzclaw responded that he was in compliance with the contract and not in default. (Complaint page 5, ¶ 30; Letter from Carey Holtzclaw to Nakendra Perry erroneously dated December 13, 2022.) State Procurement Services finally sent a letter dated January 4, 2023, to Holtzclaw notifying Holtzclaw that it was terminating the contract effective January 13, 2023. (Complaint p. 6, ¶ 31; Letter from Nakendra Perry to Holtzclaw Lawn Service, LLC dated January 4, 2022.)

Holtzclaw responded by filing the lawsuit that is on appeal in this case. Holtzclaw’s breach of contract action is based on Holtzclaw complying with the contract. Piedmont Tech, on the other

hand, breached the contract by preemptively canceling it without cause and by not providing Holtzclaw with the materials required for Holtzclaw to do the work. (Complaint p. 6, ¶¶ 35-38.) Holtzclaw's defamation cause of action is based on comments made by Mayo as described above and other similar comments that amount to calling Holtzclaw a thief, a crook, and a liar. (Complaint p. 7, ¶¶ 39-45.) Holtzclaw's civil conspiracy cause of action is based on Respondents conspiring to sabotage Holtzclaw's business and harm it. Complaint p. 7, ¶ 46-p. 8, ¶ 49.)

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

When deciding a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim pursuant to SCRCP 12(b)(6), “the question is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief.” Plyer v. Burns, 373 S.C. 637, 647 S.E.2d 188 (2007). “A motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) must be based solely on the allegations set forth in the complaint, and [the court] must presume all well-pled facts to be true.” Gressette v. South Elec. and Gas Co., 370 S.C. 377, 635 S.E.2d 538, rehearing denied (2006) (internal citations omitted). “A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) should not be granted if facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom entitle the plaintiff to relief under any theory. The complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action.” Bergstrom v. Palmetto Health Alliance, 358 S.C. 388, 596 S.E.2d 42, rehearing denied (2004). “On appeal, the appellate court applies the same standard of review [as the trial court].” Benedict College v. National Credit Systems, Inc., 400 S.C. 538, 544, 735 S.E.2d 518, 521 (Ct. App. 2012). “In deciding whether the trial court properly granted the motion to dismiss, the appellate court must consider whether the complaint, viewed in the light most

favorable to the plaintiff, states any valid claim for relief.” Spence v. Spence, 368 S.C. 106, 116, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874 (2006).

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING HOLTZCLAW’S COMPLAINT BASED ON THE PROCUREMENT CODE WHERE THE STATE DID NOT AVAIL ITSELF OF THE BENEFITS OF THE PROCUREMENT CODE.

In dismissing the complaint, the circuit court relied upon the statutory language that the Procurement Code is the exclusive means of resolving controversies between the State and a contractor that “arise under or by virtue of a contract.” S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-4230(1) (2020). The circuit court also found that the Procurement Code is the exclusive dispute remedy to any claim arising under the contract between the State and contractor. The circuit court cited to the seminal case dealing with the exclusivity of the Procurement Code. Unisys Corp. v. South Carolina Budget and Control Bd. Div. of Information Technology Management Office, 346 S.C. 158, 551 S.E.2d 263 (2001).

In Unisys, the State requested resolution of a contract dispute with a contractor pursuant to the Procurement Code. Id. at 164. The contractor responded by denying that the chief procurement officer had jurisdiction and filing a lawsuit against the State in circuit court seeking damages for breach of contract along with injunctive relief to prevent the State from proceeding under the Procurement Code. Id. The State responded in the circuit court by filing a motion to dismiss the complaint along with counterclaims for breach of contract, breach of warranty, fraud in the inducement, and a violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act. Id. The supreme court affirmed the trial court’s dismissal of Unisys’s lawsuit against the State because the Procurement Code required

Unisys to proceed with the proceeding before the chief procurement officer that the State initiated. Id. at 176-77.

This case has a much different procedural posture than Unisys. In Unisys, the State used the Procurement Code as a sword. In that case, the State used the portion of the Procurement Code that allows either side to have the chief procurement officer resolve a contractual dispute between the State and a contractor. “Either the contracting state agency or the contractor ... may initiate resolution proceedings before the appropriate chief procurement officer by submitting a request for resolution to the appropriate chief procurement officer in writing...” S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-4230(2) (2020). In the current case, the State instead uses the Procurement Code as a shield rather than a sword. Here, State Procurement Services just terminated the contract with Holtzclaw rather than availing itself of the option of letting the chief procurement officer resolve the dispute. In its termination letter, State Procurement Services did not mention any options Holtzclaw had to challenge the termination through the Procurement Code—it merely terminated the contract. The Court would set a bad precedent by preventing Holtzclaw from pursuing any remedy where the State failed to avail itself of the Procurement Code and did not even notify Holtzclaw of his rights pursuant to the Procurement Code, which the State now argues was Holtzclaw exclusive remedy.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING HOLTZCLAW’S CAUSES OF ACTION FOR DEFAMATION AND CIVIL CONSPIRACY BECAUSE THE PROCUREMENT CODE DOES NOT GOVERN THESE CAUSES OF ACTION.**

The Court also erred in finding that the Procurement Code controlled Holtzclaw’s actions for civil conspiracy and defamation. These actions lie in tort rather than contract. The circuit court found that the Procurement Code controlled the defamation cause of action because “Defendants’ alleged defamatory statements caused Defendants to terminate the contract with Plaintiff.” (Form 4, pp. 1-2.) As to civil conspiracy claim, the Court held that “Plaintiff’s claim that Defendants

conspired to terminate the contract at issue also falls within the Procurement Code.” (Form 4, p. 2.)

The Procurement Code applies to disputes between a governmental body and a contractor “which arise under or by virtue of a contract between them including, but not limited to, controversies based upon breach of contract, mistake, misrepresentation, or other cause for contract modification or rescission.” S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-4230(1) (2020). In Unisys, the supreme court held that the State’s fraud in the inducement claim was controlled by the Procurement Code because that claim was based upon misrepresentation. Unisys, 346 S.C. at 175-76. The supreme court, however, found that the State’s Unfair Trade Practices Act claim was not viable under the Procurement Code as such an action was overridden by the specific requirements of the Procurement Code. Id.

The Procurement Code does not control Holtzclaw’s defamation cause of action against Mayo and Piedmont Tech. This cause of action is based upon comments that Mayo made that portrayed Holtzclaw as a thief, a crook, and a liar. It is irrelevant that part of the damages Mayo’s comments caused was Holtzclaw losing the contract. The damages Holtzclaw suffered go beyond losing the Piedmont Tech contract as these comments damaged his reputation in the community. These comments constitute slander per se because they accuse Holtzclaw of criminal behavior and being unfit for their trade and profession. See Davis v. Niederhof, 246 S.C. 192, 143 S.E.2d 367 (1965); Moshtagi v. The Citadel, 314 S.C. 316, 443 S.E.2d 915 (Ct. App. 1994.) As a result, the law assumes general damages. See Constant v. Spartanburg Steel Prods., Inc., 316 S.C. 86, 447 S.E.2d 194 (1994). General damages are damages presumed to have occurred to one’s reputation such as embarrassment, humiliation, and mental suffering. Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc., 332 S.C. 502, 506 S.E.2d 497 (1998). These damages have nothing to do with the Piedmont

Tech contract so the defamation cause of action is not controlled by the Procurement Code as it is a much broader claim than just what deals with the Piedmont Tech contract.

Likewise, the Procurement Code does not control Holtzclaw's civil conspiracy claim. Civil conspiracy is an intentional tort that consists of the following elements: (1) the combination or agreement of two or more persons, (2) to commit an unlawful act or a lawful act by unlawful means, (3) together with the commission of an overt act in furtherance of the agreement, and (4) damages proximately resulting to the plaintiff. Paradis v. Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist., 433 S.C. 562, 574, 861 S.E.2d 774, 780 (2021).