RECEIVED

Jul 14 2025

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLNA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001273

Circuit Court Case No.: 2024-CP-24-00214

Carey Holtzclaw and Holtzclaw Lawn Service, LLC, Appellants,

v.

Piedmont Technical College, William Craig Mayo, Brian
McKenna and State Fiscal Accountability Authority, Respondents,

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT PIEDMONT TECHNICAL
COLLEGE AND WILLIAM CRAIG MAYO**

James W. Logan, Jr.
Logan & Jolly, LLP
S.C. Bar #3385
1805 N. Boulevard
Anderson, SC 29621

July 14, 2025

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

ARGUMENT

Based on the above, the Respondents, as a matter of law, are entitled to a dismissal of this action for the following reasons:

I. THE PARTIES CONTRACTUALLY AGREED TO RESOLVE ANY DISPUTE BEFORE THE CHIEF PROCUREMENT OFFICER.

As also set forth in the Motion to Dismiss and the Initial Brief of SFAA, “the Plaintiffs have failed to exhaust the administrative remedies afforded to them under the Consolidated Procurement Code. Exhaustion of these remedies is required “as a matter of law.” For this reason, Plaintiffs are not entitled to proceed in court and their case must be dismissed because this is a contract controversy between a governmental body and a contractor.”

As set forth in the SFAA brief, “While *Unisys v. South Carolina Budget and Control Bd.*, 346 S.C.158, 551 S.E.2d. 263 (2001)² applies here, the Court can resolve this matter without considering it. That is because the method of dispute resolution in the Procurement Code is written in the parties’ contract. As part of its contract with the PTC, Holtzclaw agreed that the CPO would resolve all disputes relating to their agreements. The disputes clauses (ROA ___) state in relevant part:

DISPUTES (JAN 2006) (1) Choice-of-Forum). All disputes, claims, or controversies relating to the Agreement shall be resolved exclusively by the appropriate Chief Procurement Officer in accordance with Title 11, Chapter 35, Article 17 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, or in the absence of jurisdiction,

² “In *Unisys*, the Court rejected Unisys’s argument that the dispute clause in that case—providing that actions should be brought in circuit court—controlled the dispute. 346 S.C. at 171, 551 S.E.2d at 270-71. The Court reasoned that, due to the important public interests served by the Procurement Code, any contract formed thereunder incorporated § 11-35-4230 and other applicable provisions. In this case, of course, not only is § 11-35-4230 incorporated by law, but the parties also expressly provided that the CPO would first decide their disputes.”

only with the Court of Common Pleas for, or a federal court located in, Richland County, State of South Carolina...

The Initial Brief of SFAA states, and PTC and Mayo concur, that “It is black letter law that parties can agree on how they will resolve disputes. *See Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 539, 542 S.E.2d 360, 354 (2001) (‘Arbitration agreements, like other contracts, are enforceable according to their terms.’). Further the Procurement Code and the contracts solicited thereunder inform a contractor wanting to do business with the State how contract disputes will be resolved.”

“Contractual provisions such as these have long been used by the Government. No congressional enactment condemns their creation or enforcement.” *U.S. v. Moorman*, 338 U.S. 457, 460 (1950) (upholding disputes clause authorizing final determination by the Secretary of War). Far from condemning, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that having an expert in government contracting resolve these disputes “will lead to greater uniformity in the important business of fairly interpreting government contracts. *U.S. v. Anthony Grace & Sons*, 384 U.S. 424, 429 (1966).”

“In *Anthony Grace & Sons*, the Department of the Air Force issued the respondent a letter of acceptability containing a disputes clause providing for resolution by the Department with appeal to the Board of Contract Appeals. After the Department dismissed respondents’ claim for the return of a deposit, an issue arose about whether the appeal should be heard by the Board of Contract Appeals or the Court of Claims. The Supreme Court held that it was one “which should be heard and decided by the administrative process.” *Id.* at 429. “Barring some compelling policy reason to disregard [the disputes] provision, *the contractor should be held to its contractual agreement even at this stage in the litigation.*” *Id.* (emphasis added); *see also U.S. v. Wunderlich*,

342 U.S. 98 (1951) (enforcing disputes clause in government contract—“they have contracted for the settlement of disputes in an arbitral manner”—and holding that, in the absence of allegations of fraud, the contracting officer’s decision was final); *U.S. v. Ulvedal*, F.2d 131, 134 (8th Cir. 1967) (‘We know of no rule of law preventing the government and a contractor, such as Ulvedal, from entering into an agreement which, by its terms, makes final a contracting officer’s decision in a dispute involving a question of fact arising under their contract. The Supreme Court has consistently upheld this very kind of provision.’).”

“In this case, Appellant voluntarily chose to do business with the government. With eyes wide open, it submitted offers in response to solicitations providing that the CPO will first resolve all disputes. These were not take-it-or-leave-it consumer transactions; they are contracts that were entered after a mandated statutory process and involved arms-length transactions. Appellants willingly sought and accepted this business with full knowledge that they agreed for the CPO to handle any disputes.”

“When a contractor chooses to contract with the government, that contractor agrees to play by the rules. Both the Procurement Code and the contract informed the Appellants that claims by the government would be resolved by the CPO. Having accepted the benefits of contracting with the government, the Appellants should not be allowed to cry foul as soon as a dispute arises. Appellants contracted for the CPO to resolve all disputes arising out of the Contract and, even in the absence of *Unisys*, this ‘Court can affirm on this basis alone’.”

“Our Supreme Court has determined that, when a party fails to exhaust the exclusive administrative remedy provided by the Consolidated Procurement Code, it is appropriate for a Circuit Court to dismiss the action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). The Court held:

Since Unisys is required to exhaust its administrative remedies as a matter of law, dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim was proper. Further, because an action was pending pursuant to the Procurement Code as required when this action was brought, dismissal was also proper under Rule 12(b)(8). *See Southern Ry. Co. v. Order of Ry. Conductors*, 210 S.C. 121, 41 S.E.2d 774 (1947) (exhaustion of remedies will preclude original resort to courts where statute by express terms gives exclusive jurisdiction to administrative agency).

Unisys, *id* at 346 S.C. 158, 176-177.”

SFAA, in its Initial Brief, and PTC and Mayo concur that “Our Supreme Court recently affirmed that §11-35-4230 and the disputes clause in this contract reflect the unambiguous legislative intent that the CPO has exclusive jurisdiction over “all disputes, claims, or controversies relating to the Agreement”. “This provision unambiguously gives [*11] the CPO exclusive authority to determine “[a]ll disputes, claims, or controversies relating to” Appellants' contracts with Respondents. *See Jordan v. Sec. Grp., Inc.*, 311 S.C. 227, 230, 428 S.E.2d 705, 707 (1993) (“Where the language of a contract is plain and capable of legal construction, that language alone determines the instrument's force and effect.”). *Richards v. Spicer*, 915 S.E.2d 486, ___ S.C. ___ (2025). Because all of Appellant’s claims relate to the contract, the Circuit Court properly dismissed Plaintiff’s case and should be affirmed.”

The Plaintiffs’ Complaint fails to allege any claim for relief against PTC and Mayo “as a matter of law because it fails to allege any set of facts that can demonstrate that Plaintiffs are or can be entitled to any relief against these Defendants. *S.C. Code Ann.* §11-35-4340 provides:

There is no remedy against the State other than those provided in this chapter in any case involving a procurement subject to this code. The rights and remedies granted in this article are to the exclusion of all other rights and remedies against the State for matters arising out of or related to this code. (Emphasis added).”

This statute precludes any remedy against the PTC and Mayo in any case involving a procurement subject to the Consolidated Procurement Code.³ Based upon the above reasoning and authority, the contract in question is subject to the Consolidated Procurement Code as a matter of law, and this Court should properly dismiss the Plaintiffs' case and affirm the decision of the Lower Court.

II. APPELLANT MISREPRESENTS THE LAW IN ASSERTING THAT THE STATE IS OBLIGATED TO FILE A CONTRACT CONTROVERSY TO AVAIL ITSELF OF THE CONSOLIDATED PROCUREMENT CODE.

Appellant argues that “State Procurement Services terminated the contract with Holtzclaw rather than availing itself of the option of letting the chief procurement officer resolve the dispute” (Brief of Appellant p.6). As stated in the Initial Brief of SFAA and concurred in by PTC and Mayo, “That statement misstates not only procurement law but basic contract law. First, it is clear that PAC had a right to terminate the contract for non-performance. The contract contains a provision that allows the state to terminate a contract for default if after notice, the contractor does not cure the default within ten days. Notably, Appellant never alleged that any of the Defendants breached the Contract by failing to properly apply the default provisions of the contract and the Appellant does not make such an argument in its brief. Likewise, Holtzclaw notes in his Complaint that this method was follows. (See Comp. ¶¶24-31). Holtzclaw’s exclusive means to contest this determination was to proceed under S.C. Code Ann. §11-35-4230. Instead, Appellants waited beyond the claim period in the statute⁴ and filed this lawsuit in circuit court.”

³ Except through the procedure established in the Code.

⁴ S.C. Code Ann. 11-35-4230(2) provides “Either the contracting state agency or the contractor or subcontractor, when the subcontractor is the real party in interest, may initiate resolution proceedings before the appropriate chief procurement officer by submitting a request for resolution to the appropriate chief procurement officer in writing setting forth the specific nature of the controversy and the specific relief requested with enough particularity to give notice of every issue to be decided. A request for resolution of contract controversy must be filed within one year after

“Second, the default provision specifically states that “The rights and remedies of the State in this clause are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law or under this contract.” (ROA ____) So, the State may terminate the contract at its election if the contract is in default. In *Bannon v. Knauss*, 289 S.C. 589, 592, 320 S.E. 2d 470, 472 (Ct. App. 1984) the late Chief Judge Bell wrote, “In the absence of clear language in the contract to the contrary, a nonbreaching party may normally elect either to pursue a remedy specified in the contract or to sue for any other remedy available for the breach.” (Cites omitted).

It is well established that the “choice as to how to proceed in the event of default fell with the respondents, and the party breaching the contract has no right to object to the choice. Default is avoided by performing the contract as agreed,” but Holtzclaw failed to do so.

III. THE EXCLUSIVITY PROVISION OF THE PROCUREMENT CODE EXTENDS TO ANY CLAIM ARISING UNDER THE CONTRACT, WHICH INCLUDES HOLTZCLAW’S DEFAMATION AND CIVIL CONSPIRACY CLAIMS.

As argued by SFAA and concurred in by PTC and Mayo, “In *Unisys v. South Carolina Budget and Control Bd.*, 346 SC 158, 170, 551 S.E.2d 263,270 (2001) the Court held that the phrase “exclusive means” in the Contract Controversy provision “must therefore be strictly construed to limit suits on contracts with the State to the forum provided in §11-35-4230.” The Court concluded that this administrative procedure was the appropriate forum for a claim of fraud in the inducement and a claim for punitive damages. Likewise, in *Aiken Tech. College v. Two State Constr., Co.*, 2005 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 143 *5-6, the Court noted that even though the claim

the date the contractor last performs work under the contract or within one year after the claim accrues, whichever is later; . . .”

brought was for negligence, that claim arose out of the contract between the parties and it was not a separate tort that existed out of the contract.

Since both the defamation and civil conspiracy claims arise directly out of the alleged contractual relationship and since all the allegations regarding civil conspiracy directly involve administration of the contract.⁵ Appellant's argument that the Procurement Code does not govern these causes of action is misplaced. The Procurement Code governs "all phases of contract administration" S.C. Code Ann §11-35-310(25) and because it does, proceeding under S.C. Code Ann. §11-35-4210 is the exclusive (and only) means of proceeding on those claims."

IV. HOLTZCLAW'S CLAIMS FOR DEFAMATION AND/OR CIVIL CONSPIRACY DO NOT PROPERLY LIE AGAINST PTC AND/OR MAYO.

Even considering all of the allegations contained in the Plaintiffs' Complaint in a light most favorable to them, it is impossible to identify allegations alleging any set of facts that amount to a cognizable claim under any legal theory of defamation and/or civil conspiracy against PTC and/or Mayo. "The Plaintiffs' Complaint fails to allege any duty, breach of duty, damages, or facts sufficient to set out any legal, equitable, common law, or statutory cause of action as a matter of law and create jurisdiction pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act against PTC and/or Mayo. These Defendants also incorporate the Arguments advanced in all of the proceeding issues."

⁵ S.C. Code Ann. §11-35-310(25) provides: "Procurement" means buying, purchasing, renting, leasing, or otherwise acquiring any supplies, services, information, technology or construction. It also includes all functions that pertain to the obtaining of any supply, service, information technology or construction, including description of requirements, selection, and solicitation of sources, preparation and award of contracts, all phases of contract administration.

CONCLUSION

Piedmont Technical College and William Craig Mayo respectfully request that this Court affirm the Circuit Court's Order and dismiss this case against them pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC.